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 1. PROJECT OUTLINE - AIMS 
 
1.1  Why West Yeo? 
Members of North Devon Archaeological Society visited West Yeo Farm on a farm walk in 2008. 
The owner Kate Palmer mentioned some interesting features on the farm, such as the ñmedieval 
causewayò and flints had been found in neighbouring fields. These flints had been examined by 
the late Ann and Martin Plummer and detailed by them in a report. (Appendix 3: Lithics Report, 
West Yeo, (Flint report, Town Barton Farm, 2006)). 
 
When viewed by Society members, it was agreed the flints were probably indicative of prehistoric 
activity, and there might be similar artefacts on the current West Yeo property.  Kate also 
mentioned that an old ñbye roadò had run through the farm, visible as an earthwork of parallel 
lines on the ridge south of the farmhouse, running eastwards towards the present quarry.  
 
A previous farmhouse had burned down in the late 1880s and the current Victorian house was 
constructed above the remains. Given that the farm is close to a line of three Bronze Age  
barrows at Dart Raffe Moor, barrows at Witheridge Moor and West Burrow Moor,  is situated on a 
promontory of land overlooking a river and lies just below a ridge, with a standing stone nearby at 
Stone Farm, the prospect of finding more archaeological features seemed promising. 
 
The Devon Historic Environment Record (HER) showed that West Yeo featured as part of the 
Devon Culm Measures Rapid Archaeological survey (Exeter Archaeology, S.J.Simpson and 
P.J.Weddell) and that worked flints had been found in close proximity to the farm. The Devon 
HER listed the causeway (ómedieval roadô), barrows, a medieval chapel etc., also mentioning a 
possible Roman enclosure at Berry Castle SS8344917062, see also the Witheridge Historical 
Archive (www.witheridge-historical-archive.com). 
 
The Society (NDAS) was keen to train members in the use of geophysical equipment, (an earth 
resistance TR meter available to North Devon archaeologists through a grant.) It was suggested 
that members look for remains of the old house and possible previous buildings in the garden 
and meadow south of the farmhouse. 
 
The ñmedieval chapelò listed in the HER, was dedicated to St Paul, and had later become a 
dwelling house. (HER Monument no. 70157), according to the Dean Milles questionnaire 1747-
1762. It was also hoped to find remains of this building. 
 
 
1.2  Aims  
In summary it was agreed with the landowner that NDAS carry out a project over several years to 
include these elements: 

¶ Documentary research; maps, documents, aerial photos to provide background 

¶ Oral histories 

¶ Fieldwalking of ploughed fields to look for artefacts and provide dating evidence 
for prehistoric activity/settlement 

¶ Geophysical surveys to look for evidence of previous buildings/activities 

¶ Earthwork surveys to record existing earthworks 

¶ Building recording; record standing buildings 

¶ Excavation: any excavation required to provide dating evidence/further 
examination of existing features 

¶ Provide training opportunities for NDAS members, students and local community 
volunteers in archaeological surveying, fieldwalking, geophysical techniques, 
excavation, planning, drawing and recording of finds 

¶ Boundaries; study. An intended survey of hedgebanks/boundaries was not carried 
out as most boundaries/walls on the farm have been rebuilt under the new 
ownership, along the lines of original boundaries 

¶ Search for chapel ï missing from maps 



1.3 Methodology 
Documentary research and desk based study to be undertaken using old maps, aerial photos, 
records from the North Devon Record Office, Devon Record Office, Historic Environment Record, 
West Country Studies Library (WCSL) local parish records, Witheridge Historical Archive, 
newspaper articles, landowner's documents etc. compiled in the main by Terry Green, 
archaeologist and local historian, with assistance from NDAS members and previous farm owner. 
 
Oral history undertaken by Derry Bryant, Terry Green and Kate Palmer using digital oral 
recording equipment loaned by Exmoor National Park archaeology dept. Recorded digitally onto 
CD, and transcribed. Copies to be made available to Exmoor National Park, Devon Historic 
Environment Record, CBA, North Devon Records Office, landowner, and participants as part of 
the final report. 
 
Fieldwalking of three ploughed, harrowed fields by NDAS members and volunteers. Fields 
divided into 20m2 grids, subdivided into 2m strips, each strip walked twice, picking up non-natural 
items: pot, glass, flints, metal, possible stone tools, quartz pieces. Finds washed, locations noted, 
flints/possible stone tools recorded onto database, to produce distribution plotting. Flint experts 
consulted: the late Ann Plummer, John Newberry, Henrietta Quinnell and Dr Andy Woodcock. 
 
Geophysical surveys: using earth resistance TR meter, laying out 20m2 grids across specific 
areas, taking data readings at 1m intervals. Using ñSnufflerò software to interpret data and 
produce printed results. 
 
Recording earthworks with tapes and using surveying equipment (ñdumpyò level), plan and 
section drawing, photographing and recording. 
 
Building recording ï photography and use of old maps to determine possible locations of pre-
existing buildings. Professional recording of current farm buildings already undertaken by 
Historical Buildings Expert, see report by Peter Child, 5.1.1 
 
Excavation undertaken by members of NDAS, members of Tiverton Archaeology Group (TAG), 
amateur archaeologists, students and local volunteers under the guidance of qualified 
archaeologists Terry Green, Chris Preece (for machine excavation). Several members studying 
for Diplomas in Archaeology, with experience in excavating. 
 
Training on site by qualified archaeologists and experienced excavators. Project led by Derry 
Bryant, a qualified teacher of adult education, amateur archaeologist and author of this report. 
Flint training provided to Derry Bryant by the late Ann Plummer, and John Newberry, author of 
DAS Proceedings No. 60 2002 óInland Flint in Prehistoric Devon: Sources, Tool-making Quality 
and Useô  Advice also given by Dr Andy Woodcock (ex- East Sussex County Archaeologist) and 
Henrietta Quinnell (Exeter University). Flints referenced to Prehistoric Flintwork, Chris Butler 
2005. Training was given to members and volunteers on site on surveying, recording, plan and 
section drawing, and excavation techniques. 
 
Pottery identification: pottery advice sought from John Allan, previously of the RAMM and 
Exeter Archaeology. 
 
Glass bottle identification by Kevin Shaddick. 
 
Final report to be lodged with Devon HER, North Devon Records Office, CBA, Exmoor National 
Park, archive and artefacts to be recorded and deposited with the Museum of North Devon and 
Barnstaple. The farm owner expressed an interest in using some of the artefacts as an 
educational resource. 
 
Health and Safety: NDAS has a Health and Safety policy and risk assessments were carried 
out. First aid equipment was available on site, with a trained first aider on site. 



1.4 Programme of Activities at West Yeo Farm 2009 ï 2012 

 
15-19 June 2009 Geophysical survey Pond Meadow 
 
2 ï 6 October 2009 Fieldwalk Long Park 
 
15-16 March 2010 Earthwork Survey ï Causeway 
 
17-19 March 2010 Fieldwalk New Close 
 
21-24 March 2010 Fieldwalk New Close 
 
12-16 April 2010 Geophysical survey cottage site/barn site/ opposite quarry 
 
19 ï 19 July 2010 Excavation in garden, gradiometry survey and metal detecting Pond  
   Meadow/New Close 
 
August 2010  Fieldwalk Long Park 
 
February 2011  Geophysical survey Pond Meadow and ridgeway to quarry 
 
March 2011  Fieldwalk New Close (completed) 
 
March 2011  Fieldwalk Mead 2 
 
8-12 April 2011 Excavate T4 and T5 in garden and Pond Meadow 
 
3-12 June 2011 Excavate T4 and T5         ñ 
 
July 2011  Excavate T4 andT5           ñ  
 
August 2011  Excavate T4 andT5 andT6 test pit in meadow 
 
September 2011 Excavate  T4, T5, T6 
 
24-27 March 2012 Fieldwalk Mead 2 (completed) 
 
14-20 April 2012 Complete excavation of T4 and T5 
 
 ñ  Excavate evaluation trench across Causeway 
  



2.  LOCATION AND TOPOGRAPHY 
 West Yeo Farm, Witheridge, Devon 
 NGR: SS78931493 
 
The farm buildings lie just below the ridge road from West Yeo Cross to Drayford. Close to the 
entrance of the farm is an abundant spring which was diverted with stone drains by the Victorian 
owners to provide water for the farm buildings. This corner of the field (known as Lake Park) is 
wet all year round, and is currently used for storing manure etc. The ridge road runs west to 
Drayford and north towards South Molton. It used to continue towards Rose Ash but the ñnewò 
turnpike road B3137 from South Molton road cut through it in 1839, building a new bridge across 
the river and up into Witheridge. ñNew Closeò was formed by cutting across from the turnpike 
road B3137 to the ridge road, leaving a portion of the old road abandoned, now a visible grassy 
track, known locally as Muxey Lane. 
 
Standing close to this position, at approx 180m above sea level it is possible to see the hills of 
Dartmoor to the South. It is perhaps not surprising that there should be barrows just a mile or so 
away on what was probably originally moorland. There is a standing stone in a field on the next 
farm (Stone Farm) to the west. The location is in a commanding position, with gentle slopes 
down to the river flats and good views along the valley.  
 
 
2.1 Observations 
Soil on the farm is of a silty clay, light red in colour to a depth of at least 1.5m in places (observed 
in Long Park during pipe laying activity.) A band of heavy sandstone forms an east-west ridge, 
south of the farmhouse, used as part of the route for the old bye road, probably offering a drier 
route.  
 
Field stones are of sandstone, angular and sub angular, with some small quartz noted. No 
natural rounded pebbles were observed in the fields. Other stones noted were small heavy, 
reddish-brown smooth ñironstoneò pieces, which produced a very red stain when wet, and some 
small red ochre pieces with possible use wear. Some of the ñironstonesò were oval or cylindrical 
(although broken). The previous farmer commented that he had found narrow (several inches 
wide) clay drainage pipes in the field opposite New Close, going down slope, westwards towards 
Adworthy. He thought these pipes had held sediment which formed such stones. Unfortunately 
none of these pipe fragments were still available to view. Further research would be useful. 
 
There is no known source of flint in the vicinity; it is possible that pebble flints could have been 
collected from the river Little Dart on the southern boundary, or brought in from other locations 
(the Exe Valley or North Devon beaches). There was a light blue/grey coarse textured stone 
noted in a narrow band in the clay below the surface in Long Park ï this stone fractures into 
small pieces and there are several possible worked pieces within the collection.  
 
 
  
 
 



 
 
Lake Park looking east towards Witheridge and the church 

 
 
3. GEOLOGY 
 
3.1  Geology description by Paul Madgett: 
óThe rocks in this area look to be typical alternating sandstone and shale layers, as seen in 
Carboniferous strata across central Devon; with a steep dip imposed by the Variscan earth 
movements at the end of the Carboniferous.  These are stained a deep red colour presumed to 
be from the Permian "red-beds" which would once have overlain them, as the mountain chain 
resulting from those earth movements was eroded, and land-based sediments were deposited in 
the lower-lying areas between the mountain ridges. 
 
As to the local geology, the pocket of red soil (around West Yeo) may be significant.  That area of 
north-central Devon óoughtô to be Culm Measures - i.e. Carboniferous age shales and subsidiary 
sandstones, weathering to the typical heavy clay soils of the Culm.  But trending west from the 
Tiverton area is a "wedge" of Permian strata (red-coloured) overlying these Carboniferous beds, 
with a few small outliers of Permian to the north and north-west of Tiverton as well.  In NW Devon 
Permian strata are represented only by the small outlier around Portledge and Peppercombe, but 
red-staining from the former greater extent of these beds does extend to the Clovelly area along 
the coast there, and I believe in patches inland; Permian strata occur offshore as well.  It is 
perhaps noteworthy that the Peppercombe occurrence lies on the same roughly E-W trend as the 
"wedge" around Tiverton and probably indicates that the latter once formed a much more 
extensive infilled trough during Permian times. 
 
The palaeogeography of the time could be summarised as the uplift of the earlier Devonian and 
Carboniferous sediments into part of an extensive E-W mountain range, with inter-montane 
valleys being infilled with scree deposits and poorly-sorted gravels and sands laid down in wadi-
type valleys by flash-floods, with alluvial fans building out from north and south into the valleys 
(think of somewhere like Death Valley, California!) 
  
Thus it is possible that the "pocket of red soil" may represent an isolated remnant of Permian 
strata, most of the former extent having been long-since eroded in the ensuing 250 or so million 



years... 
  
Within these Permian deposits there will be a mix of pre-existing rock-types, eroded from the 
mountains around them, some being transported far enough to have gained a smooth, rounded 
pebble shape.  So the ómystery stonesô could be "local" in derivation.ô 
 
 
3.3  Note From Dr Elaine Burt Bsc PhD, British Geological Survey, December 2012: 
óThe Bude Formation is Carboniferous in age and equates to parts of the coal measures in other 
parts of the country. However, it does not contain viable coal seams, but rather comprises a 
succession of mudstones, locally dominated by units of sandstone. Areas which are underlain by 
the sandstones are often better drained than those underlain by mudstones and can be used 
more easily for arable purposes. The area around West Yeo Farm is within one of the sandstone 
dominated units. The sandstone is often dark grey in colour when fresh, but when weathered it 
becomes buff coloured and often friable (with a sugary texture). The sandstone beds within the 
Bude Formation are usually fairly thick with thin interbedded units of mudstone and siltstone, 
although as I recall, the sandstone beds at West Yeo farm were thinner than in some other parts 
of the Bude Formation. This is probably because it is close to the boundary with the underlying 
Crackington Formation. 
  
The boundary of the Bude and the Crackington Formation lies approximately 1km North of the 
farm. The Crackington Formation is also of Carboniferous age and comprises a succession of 
mudstone, siltstone and sandstone. However, the sandstones of the Crackington Formation 
generally contain a higher percentage of mud as a matrix and are more resistant to weathering. 
Fewer areas are dominated by sandstone than in the Bude Formation.ò  
 

 
 
The quarry viewed from the east    Note the central break at the top (section through 
        the ñbye roadò 

 
 



 
 
Small pieces of light blue/grey stone in clay in  Deep clay in Long Park  
Long Park 

 
 
 

 
 
Oval stones from Long Park: mudstones? 

  



3.4 Water Sources 
There is a substantial spring at the entrance to the farm, at the corner of ñLake Parkò ï apparently 
this source was diverted with stone drains by the Victorian owners to provide water into the 
farmyard. The spring area is still very wet, with a cart pond on the southern side of the track, 
opposite the source. The spring area is now used for storing manure. In wet weather, the water 
still runs down the ñbye roadò farm track into Pond Meadow and down towards the river.  
 
Comment on drainage from Fred Woollacott, previous owner: Fred had noticed 3 different types 
of drainage in ñSand Parkò,  across the ridge road on the adjoining farm.  
 
1. Old stick pipes; i.e. alder sticks laid along a trench. The water ran along them, as drainage and  
    ñ they lasted for yearsò. 
 
2. Hand made clay drainage pipes 1.5ò ï 2ò (25-50mm) in diameter, age and maker unknown. 
 
3. Fredôs grandfather laid standard small pipes butted up against each other (factory made) ï laid 
   by  POWs during the war. 
 
The spur of land occupied by West Yeo is bordered by the Adworthy Brook to the north west and 
the river Little Dart to the south east, a permanent source of fresh water. 
 
 

 

Lake Park; looking south; the spring is to the right, by the big trees. Centre photo, old linhay, with farm 
buildings beyond 

  



4.  DESK BASED STUDY 
 
4.1 Location and brief history of site, by Terry Green 
 
West Yeo Farm, comprising 29.2 hectares and run as a fully organic stock rearing enterprise, lies 
about 1km to the west of the small Devonshire town of Witheridge. To the west of the farm are 
the villages of East and West Worlington situated on the Little Dart River which flows westwards 
to join the River Taw near Chulmleigh. The farm buildings lie in an elevated position with a view 
eastwards towards the valley of the Little Dart and the hilltop town of Witheridge beyond. Most of 
the farmôs land occupies the summit and eastern slopes of a ridge of land embraced by the Little 
Dart and the Adworthy Brook, the remainder being riverside pasture. The present owner, Kate 
Palmer, being dedicated to conservation, has made efforts to replace lost hedge-banks, to 
replant orchards and to return the riverside meadows to their natural state as culm grassland. 
The aim is to create a model of profitable organic farming and to provide educational facilities for 
the general public. In the interests of raising the perception of the farm as an integral product of 
an historic landscape, members of North Devon Archaeological Society have been invited to 
investigate the historic origins and evolution of the farm and to present the results of the 
investigation as part of the projected educational programme. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Fig 1: Extract from Ordnance Survey 2

nd
 Edition Map 1905OS map 1905 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Prehistory: General Background: 
This part of mid-Devon is not rich in recorded (prehistoric) archaeological sites. There is no 
intrinsic reason for this and the relative absence of evidence is likely to result from a lack of 
investigation rather than any avoidance of the area by early populations. The old idea that mid-
Devon was clad in wildwood until the arrival of Saxon farmers has long been abandoned, though 
it does seem that the area may have carried a considerable amount of (managed?)woodland in 
pre-English days, as suggested by numerous place-names, both of English and of British-Celtic 
origin, containing a ówoodlandô element. Nevertheless the presence of Neolithic standing stones, 
Bronze Age round barrows and Bronze Age/Iron Age enclosures and settlements suggests that 
the wildwood was long ago reduced to isolated stands. We do not know in fact what the natural 
post-glacial state of the vegetation was: it may well have been more park-like than jungle-like, 
which would account for the widespread occurrence of mesolithic flint scatters, particularly on 
ridges and hillsides overlooking the potential hunting grounds of the river valleys. To be specific, 
in the more or less immediate vicinity of West Yeo, finds of flint and chert implements and 
debitage are recorded, round barrows are mapped on West Yeo Moor and to the north at Middle 
Burrow an Iron Age settlement was recently excavated. Recent field-walking exercises by NDAS 
on the fields of West Yeo have produced large quantities of flint implements and debitage. 
 
Romano-British Period: 
Apart from the odd coin find, there is at present no evidence of a Roman presence or of Roman 
influence in this area, though not so very far away, the Roman fort at Tiverton and a Romano-
British settlement at Bury Barton near Lapford (Todd 2002) together with the growing recognition 
of a Roman presence in North Devon suggest that this part of mid-Devon was not off the Roman 
map. 
 
Medieval: 
West Yeo is within the parish and hundred of Witheridge. Referring to the pre-Conquest character 
of the hundred, O.J.Reichel (1898, 391) penned the phrase óa hundred of small thanesô, ie. minor 
figures with holdings of no more than 150 acres. Certainly the Domesday Book valuations of the 
nearby manors of Thelbridge, Dart Raffe, Worlington, Drayford and Adworthy bear this out, 
ranging from 40 shillings (Thelbridge) to 30 pence (Adworthy). Witheridge itself was a royal 
manor being held by Gytha, mother of Earl Harold before the Conquest and by the King after 
1066 and was valued at £6.  
 
West Yeo does not feature in the Domesday survey, at least not under this name. It was asserted 
by O.J.Reichel (1898, 421 and 1904, 357) that an otherwise unplaced manor held by Walter de 
Claville and named óRatdoneô should be identified with a place called óFreemanscot(e) or 
Freemanecoteô, which should also be identified as West Yeo. Reichel made this assertion without 
good evidence other than the fact that in 1243 óFreemaniscoteô was held by William Vassal under 
William de Clavil, a descendant of Walter (Testa de Nevill) and that in 1284-6 William Vassal is 
recorded as holding óWestayaô (Feudal Aids) implying that óWestayaô is identical with 
óFreemanscot(e)ô. The identification of West Yeo as synonymous with óRatdoneô may be sound, 
but cannot really be affirmed (see Thorn and Thorn 1985 note 24,4).  
 
If in fact West Yeo is to be identified with Freemanscot(e) or Freemanecot(e), then it is worth 
considering the origin of this name. In the original medieval records there is a vacillation between 
forms of the name, occasionally with ïs- in the middle, but mostly without. In Feudal Aids of 
1303, 1346 and 1428 the name is predominantly presented as Freemanecot(e), the element ï 
mane- appearing to reflect the Old English genitive plural mana rather than the singular manes, 
so that we should translate the name as ócot of the freemen. Who these ófreemenô might have 
been can only be a matter of speculation. 
 
Additionally the ïcot(e) part of the name implies an originally minor holding, but one which might 
be susceptible to growth and aggrandisement. If in fact West Yeo originated as the rather small 
Freemanecot(e), the holding subsequently increased in size and importance, so that by 1243 it 



was worth a quarter of a knightôs fee, ie. a quarter of (typically) Ã20 per year, therefore £5. At this 
date William Wassal or Vassal is recorded as holding Freemaniscot of William de Claville who 
held it of the Honour (Barony) of Gloucester (Reichel 1898). Over forty years later in 1284-6 the 
record (Feudal Aids) states that William Wassal or Vassal - perhaps son of the former - held 
Westaya (West Yeo) for a quarter fee of John de Claville ï also of the next generation apparently 
ï who held it of the Honour of Gloucester and that the Earl of Gloucester held it of the King. 
 
By 1303 the de Clavilles seem to have faded from the picture, because under this year date the 
record states that William Poleyn held a quarter of a knightôs fee in óFreemanecotô. Under 
Witheridge, the Lay Subsidy of 1334 (Erskine 1969) lists William Poleyn as paying 2 shillings tax, 
the highest valuation (equal to Oliver de Esse) in the parish. We are told by Risdon and later by 
Lysons that the Poleyns were in fact lords of the manor of Witheridge, and so may have levied 
money from Freemanecot/West Yeo but did not hold it as tenants. In fact the 1334 Lay Subsidy 
lists a William atte Yo who may have been the tenant of Freemanecot/West Yeo. William Poleyn 
was succeeded by Robert Poleyn and Robert by John. In 1428 John Poleyn held a quarter 
knightôs fee in Fremanecote together with John Reyman óneither of them holding a whole quarter 
partô, as the record states (et nullus eorum tenet integram quartam partem.) That neither Poleyn 
nor Reyman was the holder of West Yeo is perhaps confirmed by an entry in the Register of 
Bishop Lacy recording that in 1438 John Fry, Lord of West Yeo, presented to Washford Pyne. 
Two years earlier in 1436 the same John Fry of West Yeo had been witness to a Cruwys 
Morchard deed and two years later in 1440 he was involved in a dispute over boundaries in 
which West Yeo was implicated (Typescript History of Witheridge, NDRO 1629-2/PZ1). 
 
The tenure of John Fry appears to imply that West Yeo had achieved elevated status since it is 
recorded (Sir John Carewôs Scroll of Arms) that the Fry(e) coat of arms stood in Witheridge 
church. The Fry family joined by marriage with the Parker family of North Molton and became 
ancestral to the Earls of Morley. It may well have been during the Fry tenure that a chapel or 
family oratory was installed at West Yeo (see below).  
 
Post-Medieval ï Modern: 
The Devonshire historian Risdon writing around 1600 does not mention West Yeo in his 
description of the parish of Witheridge, so that we have no knowledge of 16th century 
developments. By the 1620s however, West Yeo may have been home to the Elworthy family. 
Parish records show that in 1682 Dorothy Elworthy of West Yeo paid £3 towards repairs to the 
parish church of Witheridge (Typescript NDRO 1629-2/PZ1). This documented connection allows 
us to speculate that the William Elworthy who in 1621 paid a Land Tax of 40 shillings in the parish 
of Witheridge, was Dorothy Elworthyôs ancestor in tenure. A notice in the Exeter Flying Post of 5th 
February 1784 advertising the proposed sale of the lease of West Yeo names Thomas Elworthy 
Gent as the principal lessee (together with his brother Richard Elworthy and a nine-year old boy 
named Richard Oxenham) of the óCapital Messuage Barton and Farm, called West Yeo situate in 
Witheridgeô. It seems therefore that Elworthys occupied West Yeo for much of the 17th and 18th 
centuries. 
 
The Land Tax records (1780-1832) tell us that in 1780 West Yeo was the property of Richard 
Copplestone (of Ottery St Mary), who had presumably been the owner of the lease when it was 
offered for sale in 1784. West Yeo had a taxable value of £8..8s..0d. Thomas Elworthy was the 
tenant in 1780, but by 1788 he was both owner and occupier, having presumably bought the 
freehold from Richard Copplestone. In 1809/10 the property was apparently again put up for sale 
and was bought by William Adams who now both owned and occupied the farm. The census of 
1841 records William Adams aged 70 as farmer at West Yeo. By 1851, his son William Brook 
Adams, aged 44 had taken over. William Adams Junior was still in possession in 1861, but by 
1867 he was in poor health and was in the process of selling his livestock (North Devon Journal). 
Morrisôs Directory of Devon 1870 records Samuel Cock, yeoman at West Yeo, and the census of 
1871 has Samuel Cock resident and farming at West Yeo. This clearly indicates that the Cock 
Family were in residence well before the fire which burnt the old house to the ground in or about 
1880. John Usmarôs hand written notes suggest that the Adams family sold West Yeo to the Cock 



brothers (George and Samuel?) in 1886. If this is correct and until that date the Cocks were 
tenants of the Adamsô, we have to wonder who paid for the rebuilding after the fire and who was 
responsible for the modernisation that apparently took place.  
 
Kellyôs Directory of 1889 records Samuel Cock as farming at West Yeo, but from the sale 
particulars of 1893 it is evident that by that date George Cock was the owner of the ófreehold 
estateô, the ósubstantially erected modern houseô and the ówell arranged and convenient stone 
built and slated farm buildingsô. Trade Directories from 1906 to 1930 record George Cock as 
farmer at West Yeo, though the census return of 1901 has Eva Carter as resident here. Kellyôs 
Directories for 1935 and 1939 identify James Woollacott as farmer at West Yeo. It is apparent 
from a Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries survey of 1941 (see below) that he had been in 
residence since 1931. Records post-1939 have not yet been available to this study. 
 
Additional History: 
Lysons (1822) records that William Chapple, the antiquary and editor of Risdon, was born at 
West Yeo. He was the son of William Chapple, Parish Clerk, who died in 1755. Chapple (which 
one?) bequeathed a prayer book to the parish church with an inscription including óthe place 
where I drew my first breath, viz. at Stukeleyôs, Lower West Yeo alias New House é. On the 14th 
January (old style) 1718-19ô.  
 
It was William Chapple (the younger) who provided a response to Dean Milles questionnaire 
around 1750, mentioning in his account of Witheridge three ancient chapels:  
 
ódedicated to St Margaret, St Peter, and Paul, some traces of which still remain at Myll, Bradford, 
and West Yeo in this parish. The last mentioned was turned into an ox house, and since to a 
dwelling house, and other two are quite demolished, having nothing to perpetuate their names 
but the names of the fields adjoining where they stood, viz Chappel-Hill at Myl, and Chappel-
Meadow at Bradford. These Chappels very probably occasioned the division of the parish in to 4 
quarters now called the town quarter, the east quarter, the south quarter, and the west quarter. 
The church is situated in the town quarter, Bradford Chapel in the east, Myll Chappel in the 
south, and West Yeo in the west.ô 
 
Farm Surveys ï 20th Century 
Government surveys and valuation exercises were carried out in 1910 and 1941.  
In 1910 George Cock(s) was the owner and occupier of West Yeo comprising 380 acres of land, 
buildings and cottages, one within the curtilage and three others called Park Cottages. The farm 
was assigned an óoriginal gross valueô of Ã7645. 
 
In 1941 the occupier was James Woollacott paying £205 per year, while the owner was G.Cocks 
who lived on the Isle of Wight.  
The record of the 1941 survey is very informative and the following details are worthy of note: 
 
There were 163 acres under cereal, potatoes and fodder crops. There were 39 cattle and calves, 
125 sheep, 14 pigs, 70 head of poultry and 2 horses.  
The condition of the land was judged to be 40% good, 30% fair and 30% bad.  
The buildings were in good condition while the fences and ditches were fair. There was no 
cottage attached to the farm. 
There was no infestation with vermin of any kind.  
Water supply to the farmhouse was from a well, to the buildings was by drainage from the roofs 
and to the fields was from a stream. 
There was no electricity.  
Motive power was supplied by 2 petrol engines of 7.5 and 3.5 horsepower respectively. There 
was one Fordson tractor of 26 horsepower.  
For the purposes of increased food production during wartime certain grass fields were ploughed 
up, namely in 1940 fields numbered (OS) 161 and 143, and in 1941 fields numbered (OS) 148, 
273 and 176. 



 
A further undated mid-20th century survey made available to this study includes a plan and 
description of the buildings.  
 
 

 
Fig2: 20th century farm survey 
 
The house and buildings are described as modern and in good repair. Four cottages on the farm 
are said to be old and in fair repair. 
 
 

 
 
Photograph showing farm with western range still extant, before demolition (courtesy of Kate Palmer) 

KEY:  

 
A: Farmhouse 
B: Cellar, pound house, granary 
over 
C: 2 Poultry Houses 
D: 2 WCs, 4 piggeries 
E: Shippon, loft over 
F: Barn 
G: Engine house, meal (?) house, 
calf house, granary 
H: Yearling house and yard, loft over 
J: Yearling house, loft over, yard 
K: Stable, loft over 
L: 2 open linhays 
M: Cart and implements shed 
N: Poultry house, yearling house 
O: Open yearling house 

P: Manure house 
 



 
4.2 Cartographic History:  
 
Maps 
The earliest cartographic representation of West Yeo is the Ordnance Survey surveyorôs draft 
map of 1804-5 (fig 3). This shows West Yeo lying at the end of a short length of track leading off 
the road to East Worlington. Running through and beyond the farm the map shows a track 
delineated with a dotted line leading across the Little Dart river through a belt of woodland and 
joining up with a more clearly defined route heading towards Witheridge. This routeway features 
somewhat more clearly on the Greenwood map of 1820 (fig 4). Both the 1804-5 OS map and the 
Greenwood map are quite unhelpful when it comes to the buildings and their lay-out. For 
accurate information we have to turn to the very skillfully surveyed tithe map of 1839 (fig 5). 
 

 
 
Fig 3: OS Surveyorsô draft 1804 Source: West Country Studies Library 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Fig 4: OS Old Series 1809 Source: North Devon Record Office 

 

The tithe map furnishes the earliest detailed record of the farm, clearly showing the buildings, 
field boundaries and routeways. In addition the apportionment document which accompanies the 
map provides details of ownership, tenancy, field names and acreage as well as contemporary 
use of the land. 
 
On the tithe map the farmhouse - coloured pink to distinguish it as a dwelling ï is shown as a 
long building oriented more or less east-west ï having therefore a southern aspect ï with 
relatively stubby wings running northwards at the east and west ends.  This suggests a typical 
three-cell house with cross-passage originating in the 16th -early 17th century period with possibly 
later extensions. The house is set within a ócourtô. To the north is a garden and to the south is a 
óbarn yardô. Other buildings include a long structure aligned north-south on the west side of the 
barn yard and an east-west oriented open-sided building in its own enclosure to the north of the 
garden. North-west of the farmhouse is a small building in the corner of the ócourtô. The buildings 
are approached from the north-west via what is described as a óbye-roadô leading off the road 
which goes to East Worlington. Where the bye-road leaves the main road the main road widens 
and in the north-west corner of the wide area is an L-shaped building the north-east wing of 
which almost straddles the road, allowing access only through a narrow gap. Beside the bye-road 
leading into the farm there are further small buildings, one on each side of the road.  
 
Unlike on earlier maps the óbye roadô is not continuous through the farm, but reappears to the 
east running along the north side of an orchard (813 on the tithe map) and turning sharply south 
between fields named East and West Close to approach the Little Dart river where it appears to 
stop. Beyond the river is an area of woodland out of the southern apex of which a track emerges 
heading towards Witheridge. This would appear to be a continuation of the óbye roadô. In the 
1830-40 period what is now the road from South Molton to Witheridge did not exist. Instead 
Witheridge was approached via Dart Raffe and the most direct route from West Yeo to 
Witheridge was by way of the óbye roadô.  
 



 
 

 
 
Fig 5:1839 Tithe map 

 

 
 
Fig 6: Extract from 1839 Tithe map showing location of West Yeo, showing house in pink. Source: Devon 
Record Office 

 



 
 
Fig 7: mid 19

th
 century Solicitorôs copy of Tithe map 

 

 
 
Fig 8: extract from mid 19

th
 century Solicitorôs copy of Tithe map, showing field names and description of 

court and garden 

  



Tithe Apportionment 1837: 
 
The numbers refer to those of the 1839 tithe map 
793: Down Park 
794: Bye Road 
795: New Close 
796: Plantation 
797: Wood Park 
798: Plantation 
799: Lower Tunbridge 
800: Long Close 
801: Lake Field 
802: Plantation 
803: Bye Road 
804: ?Possibly Barn and Yard or House and Yard? 
805: Garden 
806: Barn and Yard 
807: Bakes Meadow 
808: Higher Barn Field 
809: Plantation 
810: Lower Barns Field 
811: Pond Field 
812: Tembridge (= Tunbridge?) 
813: Orchard 
814: West Close 
815: Bye Road 
816: East Close 
817: Island 
818: Copse 
 
The First Edition Ordnance Survey map of 1889 (fig 9) indicates numerous changes in the 
preceding 50 years. We know that the farmhouse of West Yeo suffered a disastrous fire around 
1880, and that the house was rebuilt in the style of the day. The new house ï as represented on 
the Second Edition map of 1905 (fig.1) - is more square than the original farmhouse and, in 
relation to the oddly dog-legged eastern boundary recorded on both the tithe map and the OS 
map, appears to be located somewhat farther to the north.   
 
The house was either set away from the eastern boundary or a new boundary had been created 
echoing the alignment of the original boundary. Attached to the western end of the house was a 
large square building which was presumably the pound-house mentioned in the 20th century 
survey records. What was originally the garden to the north had been divided up and new 
buildings have been installed around it, while the former barnyard to the south had been divided 
with a north-south boundary and the larger part turned into a garden. The long building on the 
south-west of the original barn yard had been truncated leaving only the northern, narrower part 
to the south of which a new enclosure had been created with a pair of buildings on the south. 
 
 Along the bye-road approaching from the north-west a building which in 1839 lay to the north 
had gone, while on the south a new open-sided building had been built. The buildings on the 
road to East Worlington had been removed.  
 
There is no longer any indication of a routeway ï bye-road ï crossing the farmôs land, 
presumably because by this date the new South Molton to Witheridge road had been 
constructed, bypassing West Yeo. All that remains on the map is the eastern extremity of the bye-
road where it approaches the Little Dart river. 
 
  



 
 

 
 
 
Fig 9: Extract from Ordnance Survey First Edition Map at 1:2500 1889 

  



 

 

 

 

 

Fig 10: Extract from Ordnance Survey 2nd Edition Map 1905 

  



 
Fig 11: RAF Aerial Photograph 1949 (Courtesy of Devon Historic Environment Service) 

 



 

 

Sale document 1893 

  



4.3 Landscape Features: 
 
The Bye-road: 
Indicated on the early maps, the course of the bye-road can be identified on the ground. Firstly it 
is represented by the track into the farm from the East Worlington road. Arriving at the farm 
buildings, the track turns abruptly south passing the house and accessing the field to the south of 
the house through a metal farm gate. Its course can be picked up again as two parallel low banks 
running along a west-east ridge as it heads towards a quarry where it is lost. In the next field to 
the east known as óTunbridgeô, it can be seen as a low bank running parallel to the southern field 
boundary, but on the other side, ie. within the orchard. This can be traced as far as the next field 
gate where it turns abruptly south heading towards the river. Here the bye-road is clearest, being 
an apparently metalled track running between banks and ending abruptly at the riverbank.  
 
There is currently no indication as to how  the river may have been crossed, but there are 
vestiges of a continuation on the opposite bank. It has become usual to describe this last part of 
the bye-road as a causeway, an appropriate term as it crosses low, marshy ground in true 
causeway fashion. It is particularly well preserved here because considerable effort has been 
expended in the past to make it substantial and presumably passable in all conditions. This in 
turn implies importance, the primary reason for which being the need to cross the river to 
Witheridge without taking the round-about route via Dart Raffe.  
 
 
Field-systems, Boundaries and Field Names: 
The extant fields and boundaries immediately around West Yeo do not present any suggestion of 
a medieval strip field-system. However to the south-west around the now ruined holding known 
variously as Lower West Yeo or Stuckleys or Little New House parallel field boundaries as 
recorded on the tithe map of 1839 may represent the enclosure of medieval plough strips. Also, 
to the west of the East Worlington road a single dog-legged field-boundary may have similar 
implications. The field-name óGrattonô here is likewise suggestive of infield/outfield cultivation. At 
the same time, the numerous parallel boundaries to the south and to the west of West Yeo could 
conceivably reflect a co-axial field-system of potentially Bronze Age date. These are merely 
suggestions for consideration. There is no compelling evidence for either possibility.  
 
It has been suggested that curving boundaries emanating eastwards from the farm centre 
enclosing fields known as Pond Field and Tunbridge may represent an ovoid enclosure, perhaps 
an early infield. However, the topography of quite steeply sloping ground makes this 
questionable, since the purpose of an enclosed infield was intensive arable cultivation.  
 
Field names immediately to the north involving óParkô and óCloseô, especially óNew Closeô suggest 
late medieval or post-medieval enclosure, perhaps from open grazing land (West Yeo Moor is 
only a short distance to the north). This may be borne out by the paucity of pottery finds (ie. an 
absence of long-term midden carting) and, among those present, a preponderance of early 
modern material picked up during field-walking of fields in this area.  
 
The field-name óTunbridgeô is interesting. The southern boundary of this field is mainly marked by 
the course of the bye-road with the causeway leading off it. The modern name óTunbridgeô 
appears to be based on the earlier recorded form óTembridgeô (Tithe apportionment 1837) which 
might be parsed as follows: The term óbridgeô in medieval topographic usage could apply equally 
to a bridge as we recognise it and also to a causeway across wet ground (Smith: English Place-
Name Elements). There was no bridge across the Little Dart in this vicinity until the mid-19th 
century so the term in this field name must apply to the causeway. As for the first part of the 
name, I would suggest that óTem-ó is properly óTen-ó, the nasal dental consonant ïn- being 
assimilated to the labial consonant ïb-, producing the compromise nasal labial ïm-, a common 
enough occurrence in spoken English. óTenô would derive from Middle English óattenô meaning óat 
or by theéô, so that the field name translates as óat or by the causewayô, which is apt. If this 
interpretation is correct, then it confirms the medieval origin of the causeway. 



The chapel 
 

From the Dean Milles questionnaire it would appear that West Yeo once had a chapel. In 
common with other Devonshire estates, the owners of West Yeo would have acquired a licence 
to build a family oratory some time in the medieval period. The granting of a licence to build a 
chapel implies high status, the family being allowed the privilege of celebrating mass 
conveniently in their own chapel rather than trekking across country to the parish church ï which 
in this case would have involved use of the bye-road, and the causeway, crossing the river and 
negotiating the steep ground on the far side. Responding to the questionnaire, the local informant 
tells us that by the mid-18th century the chapel had been converted to an ox-house and 
subsequently to a dwelling.  The down-grading of the chapel to an animal house may have 
stemmed from the upheaval of the Reformation or may imply loss of status for the West Yeo 
estate. In any case it appears that by the mid-18th century it had become one of the farm 
cottages. The precise location of the former chapel can at present only be guessed, though in 
common with other medieval domestic oratories (eg. Honiton Barton, Lower Alsworthy, Ayshford 
Court) it would have lain quite close to the house. It is tempting to suppose that it may have been 
represented by one of the cottages which lay on the west side of the former barnyard, but the 
north-south orientation of these buildings tells against it. 
 
The tithe map of 1842 records relatively few outbuildings, while the recent excavation suggested 
the former existence of structures lying to the south-east of the farmhouse and not present on the 
tithe map. These structures had been buried beneath a considerable depth of redeposited 
material including quantities of pottery fragments and thick, dark green bottle glass none of which 
suggested a date later than the late 18th or early 19th century. This was a period when the 
property twice changed hands, and it seems likely that a change of ownership brought 
reorganisation involving the destruction of old buildings. These may well have included the 
descendant of the former chapel. Without more extensive excavation its whereabouts must 
remain a mystery. 
 
Note: A fragment of volcanic stone, dressed and moulded as ashlar, found built into the buried 
remains of what appears to have been a wall (whether building or boundary is uncertain) is likely 
to have come from a high-status building which may have been the chapel. 
  



4.4 West Yeo: Details from 19th century census returns. 
 

Date Householder Family Employees Other 

1841 William 
Adams 70 

Hannah Adams 65, William 
Adams 30, 
 Sophia Adams 35 

2 female servants, 1 Ag 
Lab, 2 apprentices 

Ann Benford, 
Independent  35 
Mary Selwood, 
Independent  15 

1851 William 
Adams 44 

Mary Elizabeth Adams 36, 
Mary Elizabeth Adams 3, 
Frances Hannah Adams 1 

3 male servants, 1 female 
servant, 5 labourers 

Farmer of ?? acres with 
100 acres of moorland 

1861 William 
Adams 53 

Mary Elizabeth Adams 45 1 female servant, 5 
labourers 

Farmer of 367 acres 

1871 Samuel Cock 
62 
(from 
Middlesex) 

Sarah Cock 62, Samuel 
Cock 21, Sarah Ann Cock 
26, George Cock 19 

2 male servants, 1 female 
servant 

 

1881 Samuel Cock 
72 

Sarah Cock 63, Sarah Ann 
Cock 36, George Cock 28 

4 labourers, 2 boys  

1891 George Cock 
39 

Susanna Cock 38, Samuel 
Cock 5, Mabel Cock 18 
months 

1 male servant, 2 female 
servants 

 

1901 Eva Carter 46 Bessie Carter 25, Frederick 
Carter 22,  
Laura Carter 19, Margaret 
Carter 17, Charles Carter 
14, Christian Carter 12 

Samuel Veysey, Farm 
bailiff 
Henry Heaman, 
Horseman on farm 
Samuel Dymond, Cow 
boy 

 

 
Fig 12: 19

th
 century census returns 

 
 
4.5 Advert in the Tiverton Gazette 

 
 

 
 
Fig 13: Excerpt from the Tiverton Gazette, 5 January 1907 
 
  



4.6  West Yeo Timeline  

It is interesting that a ótimelineô of habitation on the site can be shown, using evidence through the 

artefacts found and historical documentation. 

Mesolithic 9000 ï 4000BC Evidence: lithics 
 
Neolithic 4000 ï 2000 BC: Evidence: lithics 
 
Bronze Age 2000 ï 650/500BC: Evidence: lithics 
 
Iron Age None found at West Yeo but iron age settlement at Middle Burrow Farm,  
  East Worlington, excavated by South West Archaeology (ñBronze Age to Bottle   
  Seals, chapter 6 (An Iron Age Roundhouse at Middle Burrow Farm, East    
  Worlington, by South West Archaeology) 
 
Roman  Evidence: suspected Roman watch tower at Berry Castle nearby 
 
Saxon  Evidence: Witheridge  mentioned in Domesday as a Kingôs Manor in 1086 
  Evidence: Pot sherds from excavation SF7 and SF12: Oxidised late 10

th
-13

th
   

  century pot sherds Upper Greensand derived, Blackdown Hills  
 
1436  Lord John Fry ï elevated status at West Yeo 
 
1621  William Elworthy paid £3 towards church repairs 
 
1755 Death of William Chapple Parish Clerk (lived at Little New House/Stucleys) at West Yeo . 

Son William Chapple replied to Dean Milles questionnaire 
 
1780 West Yeo is property of Richard Copplestone of Ottery st Mary (tenant in11780) 
 
1788  Thos Elworthy both owner and occupier 
 
1809/10 Put up for sale  - purchased by William Adams 
 
1851  Son William   Adams took over aged 44 
 
1870  Samuel Cock ï yeoman, 1811 resident and farming at West Yeo 
 
1881  House burned to ground? 
 
1886  Adams family sold West Yeo to Cock brothers George and Samuel 
 
1889  Kellyôs Directory: Samuel Cock as farmer 
 
1893 Sale particulars: George Cock owner of freehold estate. Substantially erected modern 

house, stone built and slated farm buildings. 
 
1901 Eva Carter, age 46 tenant 
 
1906 ï 1930 George Cock, Farmer at West Yeo 
 
1935& 1939 James Woollacott farmer (since 1931) 
 
1941  G.Cocks owner (living on Isle of Wight), Jane Woolacott tenant 
 
2000-present Kate Palmer 
 
 
 
 



5. RESULTS: 
 
5.1.1 REPORT ON BUILDINGS, BY PETER CHILD, MARCH 2000 
 
I visited West Yeo Farm on 13th March 2000 and discussed its farmstead buildings and their 
repair with Kate Palmer with a view to this repair forming a component in a Countryside 
Stewardship application for the whole farm. I set out my thoughts below. You will appreciate that 
these are based on a relatively short visit and will clearly need to be supplemented as the 
application develops with more detail on the specific works needed to particular buildings. 
 
The farm complex at West Yeo is a good example of a late C19th farmyard, still traditional in its 
components but showing some elements borrowed from ñmodelò farm practices developed in the 
C19th. Unfortunately, the westerly range which originally formed the fourth side of the courtyard 
has been removed and the courtyard itself largely filled in with a modern building. However I 
understand it is the intention in the long term to remove this building and this would enable the 
historic form of the original courtyard to be better able to be appreciated, particularly if a suitable 
new building were to be placed on the site of the missing one. The group of buildings is relatively 
unusual for Devon in that it appears all to have been constructed at the same time together with 
the farmhouse itself. I understand from Kate Palmer that this was circa 1880 and the style of the 
house and buildings would certainly accord with this date. Single period complexes in Devon are 
in my experience usually the product of estate building, since most small farmers or their 
landlords could only afford to replace buildings one at a time, typically producing a motley 
collection of buildings of various dates in often irregular arrangements. West Yeo in fact did not 
form part of an estate but was built it seems by a newcomer to the district which again makes it 
unusual. Although the buildings are almost entirely constructed of local rubble there are one or 
two small sections of cob walling surviving and it seems likely that these are fragments of the 
previous farmyard on the site. The roofs were all originally clad with slate. In most instances the 
slate roofs require repair or reinstatement, as do the rain water goods which originally would 
have been of cast-iron. The roofs are all supported on king-post trusses typical of nineteenth 
century construction. 
 
I would certainly consider all the traditional buildings at West Yeo to be worthy candidates for 
grant aid under Country Stewardship in terms of their interest and appearance, The fact that they 
are all of one period together with the farmhouse itself adds to this interest. I set out below 
comments on specific buildings using the numbers marked on the attached plan. I also enclose a 
copy of the 1893 25ò map which shows the site of the building which has been taken down on the 
west side of the yard. 
 
1.  The House 
This is a late example of the very standard double-pile central entrance farmhouse which 
succeeds buildings with more vernacular plans from circa 1700 onwards and continued to be 
built until the First World War. It has the usual sash windows, hipped roof and central gable 
chimney stacks of this kind of farmhouse. 
 
2. Cider House and Trap House 
Attached to the west side of the house is a composite building. At the front on the ground floor is 
the stable for the farmerôs horse and the house for the trap which it pulled. Behind these are two 
rooms which were used for cider production with the press in the room nearest the drive and the 
barrels stored in the next room. The covered area which links this building to the house was used 
for domestic purposes. There is a low loft over the building which presumably was for apple 
storage. The slates of the roof of this building are beginning to slip and need re-nailing and other 
ancillary repairs. There is a serious collapse of the gable wall which abuts the drive to the 
farmhouse which needs addressing as a matter of priority. This wall would appear to need 
rebuilding within the triangle of the gable. 
  



3. Ash House 
According to the previous owner this building was originally an ash house. Ash houses occur on 
Devon farmsteads (they are particularly to be found on Dartmoor) and were places where ash 
and other compostable material was dumped, sometimes in conjunction with a privy (which I 
believe was the case in this instance) later to be spread on the fields. This building has however 
been considerably altered and extended and would not therefore be suitable for grand aid as a 
traditional structure. 
 
4. Lofted Shippen 
This is a lofted shippen. It has the usual multiple doors of such buildings although these have 
been widened using blockwork in relatively recent times. The blockwork however is not unduly 
disfiguring and it would involve considerable interference with the building to replace it, which I 
would not consider justified. The roof of the building is clad with asbestos sheeting and it would 
be desirable in terms of the character and appearance of the building to replace this with slate to 
match that which survives on other buildings. 
 
 
5. Corn Barn 
This is a corn barn which has its main threshing and access doors at the lower end rather than 
placed centrally. Doors in this position in Devon are characteristic of later C19th barns and 
probably reflect the fact that by this date most storage of crops was external in rick yards and that 
the barn was then primarily used for processing the crops and storing them after processing 
rather than for keeping the unthreshed crop under shelter. 
 
6. Horse Engine House 
This is a horse engine house attached to the upper west side of the barn. Originally a large 
overhead wheel would have been turned by horses walking round beneath it and a drive shaft 
from this wheel would have supplied power for a threshing machine in the barn and other 
machinery such as root and chaff  cutters. The large head beam from which the mechanism (now 
all removed) was effectively suspended still survives but the roof of the building is almost entirely 
missing.This is clearly something which should be addressed urgently as the head beam in 
particular will suffer from being exposed to the elements.The roof which has been lost was clad in 
corrugated iron and it may be appropriate to renew the roof in this material again, given its 
shallow pitch which would seem unsuitable for slates. 
 
7. Linhay 
This is a late example of the traditional Deovn linhay or open-fronted lofted cattle shed. The 
upper floor of this building is now entirely boarded and it is possible that this boarding is original 
although on balance I think it unlikely. The two bays of the linhay nearest the barn form a 
separate compartment which seems to have been a granary linked to the adjacent barn A section 
of boarding survives here which has metal strips to cover the gaps between the boards. This is a 
most unusual feature and this section should be carefully preserved in any scheme of restoration. 
The floor of the linhay is in a very bad condition and needs to be repaired to be made safe. The 
front posts of the linhay where they survive are also in very poor condition and would need 
careful repair. One bay has been converted to a ?bull pen by means of inserted blockwork walls; 
perhaps this should be kept as evidence of the farm yardôs later development. The roof of the 
linhay consists of sheeting along the rear and slating along the front  is in very poor condition. 
The slates of the front roof need fairly radical attention with probably a fair number of new slates 
to be found and it would be desirable to slate the rear section at the same time. The junction of 
the linhay roof with the barn roof is in need of attention as water is penetrating here; this would 
involve renewal of the lead work in the valley. 
 
8. Cart Linhay 
There is a cart linhay looks as if has been cut down to its present shape with a single pitch 
sheeting roof replacing the original double pitch roof. However the previous owners of the farm 
insist that it has always been in this form and I am in no position to contradict them! If so, it is a 



unique structure in my experience of Devon farm buildings. It is certainly of interest as part of the 
original set of traditional buildings at West Yeo. The upper courses of the stone wall are loose 
and need repair in various places and I anticipate that the sheeting of the roof will need attention. 
 
Please let me know if you require any further comment or advice. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
Peter Child 
Historic Buildings Adviser 
For County Environment Director 
 
 
 
5.1.2 Buildings: by North Devon Archaeological Society 
The ñmodernò farm comprises the Victorian house and stone farm buildings; some now in 
disrepair. The farm buildings were described more fully in the above report by Peter Child, the 
plan for which has since become unavailable; but referring to the 20th century diagram the 
following features are worth noting: 
 

¶ A long linhay east-west (H on the 20th century diagram fig.2) with the upper floor 
constructed of fir poles, which would have been covered with gorse, to allow air to 
circulate.  

¶ Remains of a pulley system above the corn barn/granary from when the engine was in 
place ï (horses were originally used to turn millstones for grinding the animal feed). Two 
millstones have since been placed decoratively in the stone wall entrance to Pond 
Meadow. 

¶ A particular feature was thin metal strips between both floorboards and vertical external 
weatherboarding ï presumably for strength/weather resistance/keeping out vermin. This 
would have been expensive to install and was replaced during recent repairs to the upper 
part of the linhay. See photograph for detail prior to repair 

¶ An early original stone and cob linhay (previously thatched), oldest building on site. 

¶  A large stone barn (north-south J/K on fig. 2), formerly the western range of the yard, has 
been removed, replaced by a modern metal open structure. (Still visible on photograph) 

¶  A row of small cottages (N in fig. 2) north-south beside the track in Pond Meadow has 
been demolished, remains covered over with material from a local housing development. 
The previous owner Mr Woollacott remembers the remains of the buildings and sketched 
drawings of the layout before demolition. 

¶ Large barn from corner of field Pond Meadow (O/P on fig. 2) beside ash trees has been 
demolished (shown in photo of garden) 

 
 



 
 
 
North elevation of farmhouse with ñash houseò to the left (east), now used for poultry 

 

 
 
North-east corner of range of buildings; shippen, granary and loft in need of repair 

 



 
 
Upper floor of the long linhay east-west, fir pole flooring in evidence 

 

 
 
Carved post supports 

 



 
 
Remains of the pulley system from the upper linhay, into the granary 
 

 
 
A (cat) flap in the upper floor of loft shows metal strips between the boarding. 

 

 
 
Barn (shippen) east of the range, currently used as a butchery 



 
Granary, adjoining shippen 
 

 
 
Engine pulley in granary roof 

 

                       
Grain silo inside granary, for mixing   
animal feed       Entrance door to stairs to upper floor  
       of the engine house loft 



  
External boarding to the upper floor of the engine house; note metal strips between boarding 

 

 
The linhay and granary before restoration 
 

 
 
Feeding racks beneath the fir poles in the linhay 



 

     
Support post with iron studs and  Supporting posts with metal strengthening. Modern barn in 
hinge fixings    front  

 

 
 
 
 

 
View of northern range; with modern supporting pillars at western end. 



 
 

 
 
Eastern elevation of granary and barn, north-south 

 
 
Oldest building on site: double linhay constructed of stone and cob, previously thatched. East-west 
alignment, north of Victorian range of long linhay and granary. Southern aspect.  

 


